1980

# The State of Utah v. Alfred William Johnson : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

The appellant, Alfred William Johnson, appeals from a conviction and judgment of Burglary, a felony of the second degree, in the Third Judicial District Court, in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, the Honorable James S. Sawaya, Judge, presiding.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The appellant, Alfred William Johnson, was charged with Burglary, a felony of the second degree in violation of Title 76, Chapter 6, Section 202, Utah Code Annotated, 1953 as amended, he was convicted as charged in a jury trial and was sentenced to incarceration at the Utah State Prison for the indeterminate term as provided by law.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks reversal of the conviction and judgment rendered below and to have the case remanded to the Third Judicial

District Court for a new trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

At trial the victim of the offense, Mr. Ball, testified that on returning one afternoon to his apartment located at Snowbird Ski Resort he found the appellant inside (T.11). The appellant, according to Mr. Ball, was standing or crouching between the outside glass doors and the bed (T. 11-12). This witness also testified that to the best of his recollection the apartment had been locked and secured when he left several hours before and that an outside screen, now torn or cut, previously had been intact (T. 12,17,24). Mr. Ball stated that his apartment was one of a number located in a section reserved for employees of Snowbird and that all of the other apartments were vacant, open and obviously undergoing remodeling (T.20-30). After confronting the appellant, who expressed surprise and stated he was looking for a way out of the building, Mr. Ball suggested that they contact the manager of the apartment complex (T. 12-14, 25-26). The appellant, still inquiring as to the way out, left the premises and, according to the witness, "jogged" to a car and drove away. (T. 14,27-28). Mr. Ball testified that nothing was taken from his apartment but some of his personal effects had been disturbed (T. 11,18-19).

The state then called the arresting officer who testified on direct examination that he stopped the appellant a matter of minutes after Mr. Ball had seen the appellant drive away (T. 36-37)

On cross-examination defense counsel attempted to elicit a statement from the officer made by the appellant at the time of the stop (T. 38,30). The trial judge refused to allow the officer to testify about the content of this statement on the basis that it was hearsay, and that it was self serving and did not qualify as an exception to the hearsay rule (T. 29,41-45). The judge indicated, however, that he would allow the officer to answer if the questions were asked by the prosecutor (T. 43,45). The court also stated that if the defense wanted the statement to come in then the appellant would have to forego his constitutional privilege not to testify (T. 41,45). Defense counsel then made a timely proffer of the expected testimony, stipulating that the statements were voluntary and constituted an admission by the appellant to criminal activity (T. 41,45,49-50). Defense counsel further indicated that the appellant who had several prior burglary convictions which the court refused to exclude, could take the stand if the corroborative testimony of the arresting officer was allowed (T. 49-51). At the close of the trial, defense counsel requested that an instruction of the lesser included offense of Criminal Trespass be given to the jury. This request was denied and an exception was taken (T.75).

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED PREJUDICIAL ERROR BY EXCLUDING THE APPELLANT'S HEARSAY STATEMENTS WHICH QUALIFIED UNDER AT LEAST FIVE OF THE EXCEPTIONS TO THE HEARSAY RULE.

During the cross examination of the arresting police officer, defense counsel attempted to elicit a statement that the appellant had made at the time of his arrest (T.39). The substance of the statement that was attempted to be elicited was an admission by the appellant that he had been in the room at Snowbird, but lacked the requisite intent to commit the burglary with which he was charged (T.41). That trial court ruled that the statement was hearsay and did not fit within any of the exceptions to Rule 63 of the Utah Rules of Evidence (T.45). The primary basis stated by the court for the ruling was that the statement was self-serving (T.45).

The trial court was correct in ruling that the statement was hearsay, as described in Rule 63 of the Utah Rules of Evidence. This is because it was a statement made by a person other than the witness and it was being offered to prove the truth of the matter stated. However, the trial court committed error by excluding the statement as it fit within at least five of the exceptions to the hearsay rule. These five exceptions include: Rule 63 (12)(a), statement of Physical or Mental Condition of the Declarant; Rule 63(6) Confessions and Admissions; Rule 63(7) Admissions by Parties; Rule 63(10) Declarations Against Interest; and Rule 63(4)(b) Contemporaneous

aneous Statements.

POINT A

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED ERROR BY EXCLUDING  
THE APPELLANT'S STATEMENT AS IT CONSTITUTED  
A STATEMENT OF THE MENTAL CONDITION OF  
THE DECLARANT.

The appellant was initially seen by Officer Church proceeding westbound on 9400 South Street in Salt Lake County, a street leading directly to the Snowbird Resort (T. 38). The defendant was then stopped and subsequently made an admission that he was at Snowbird but the court would not allow the officer to testify about what the appellant said his reason was for being at the resort.

Such statements were admissible as a statement of a mental condition of the declarant as described in Rule 63(12)(a) of the Utah Rules of Evidence. That exception to the hearsay rule states,

Unless the judge finds it was made in bad faith, a statement of the declarant's (a) then existing state of mind, emotion or physical sensation, including statements of intent, plan, motive, design, mental feeling, pain and bodily health, but not including memory or belief to prove the fact remembered or believed, when such a mental or physical condition is in issue or is relevant to prove or explain acts or conduct of the declarant.

In State v. Simmons, 573 P.2d 341 (Utah, 1977) this court was confronted with the same issue as is raised here. In that case the defendant took a car from an automobile dealer with the dealer's permission; however, when he did not return the car

that night he was charged with auto theft. Several hours after receiving the car the defendant had made a statement to a friend that he had the car for a test drive. The trial court sustained the prosecutor's hearsay objection to this evidence and this court held that the trial court committed error as the statement was admissible as a statement of the declarant's state of mind. The court found that the error was not prejudicial. The other Utah Case which specifically addressed the use of Rule 63(12) (a) of the Utah Rules of Evidence is State v. Wauneka, 560 P.2d 1377 (Utah 1977). In that case the court held that it was error to admit statements of the victim of a homicide expressing her fear of the defendant. The court ruled that the statements lacked probative value as they were made several days prior to the homicide and they did not tend to prove a fact in issue.

In the case at bar the statement was made minutes after the appellant had been seen in Mr. Ball's room at the Snowbird resort. Such a statement was made even closer in time to the event in question than those held to be error to exclude in State v. Simmons, supra. The statement more accurately reflects the state of mind of the declarant than the statement in Simmons because in Simmons the declarant's intent to keep the car could change, thus resulting in the theft, where here the important question is the intent while the appellant was in the room. Likewise with respect to time and relevancy, the appellant's statement is clearly distinguishable from the statements held to be inadmissible in State v. Wauneka, supra.

With respect to the nature of the statement, the proffer was that the appellant had stated that he was not in the room to commit a theft (T. 45,49). Clearly this is a description of his state of mind, intent, plan, motive or design as specified in Rule 63(12)(6) of the Utah Rules of Evidence. The charge of Burglary as described in the Information in this case required the state to prove that the appellant had the intent to commit a theft. Consequently, the substance of the statement was probative of a material fact in issue, thus distinguishing this case from the statement admitted in the Wauneka case.

The trial court ruled that the appellant's statement was inadmissible because it was self-serving. Although that may be true to some extent, that is not the test for admissibility under Rule 63(12)(a) of the Utah Rules of Evidence. The only question under that exception to the hearsay rule is whether the statement was made in bad faith. The trial court did not make any such finding, but instead equated defense counsel's attempt to elicit the statement to being self-serving (T.45).

There was no showing that the statement in question was made in bad faith. It would be probative of the intent element of the offense of burglary — the only element at issue in the trial. Finally, it was an expression of the appellant's mental condition. Consequently, it was admissible as a statement of the declarant's mental condition, an exception to the hearsay rule and the trial court committed error in excluding it.

POINT B

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED ERROR BY EXCLUDING  
THE APPELLANT'S HEARSAY STATEMENT AS IT CON-  
STITUTED A CONFESSION OR ADMISSION.

The circumstances surrounding the making of the statement in question previously have been described and need not be repeated here. In this statement the appellant admitted that he was in a place where he should not have been. Such an act could have constituted a Criminal Trespass in violation of Utah Code Ann. §76- (1953 as amended), which is a lesser and included offense to Burglary which was charged in the Information (See Point II, infra.

Such a hearsay statement is admissible as an admission or confession, which is an exception to the hearsay rule. This exception is described in Rule 63(6) of the Utah Rules of Evidence:

In a criminal proceeding as against the accused, a previous statement by him relative to the offense charged if, and only if, the judge finds that the statement was made knowingly and voluntarily by the accused and the circumstances under which the statement was made were not violative of the constitutional rights of the accused;

The type of declarations covered by this exception to the hearsay rule are readily observable from a brief overview of the interpretive case law.

In State in re KDS., 578 P.2d 9 (Utah, 1978), the juvenile defendant was charged with Driving Under the Influence after he was involved in an automobile accident with a friend. He stated to the arresting police officer that he was driving the automobile but he was not under the influence of alcohol. That statement was held to be an admission even though it was partially exculpatory



Similarly, in State v. Burr, 579 P2d 331 (Utah, 1978), the defendant went to a Salt Lake City Police Officer and told him that he would be willing to testify against others involved in the Second Degree Felony Thefts with which he was charged if the state would drop these charges to Class A Misdemeanors. This court held that such a statement constituted an admission as described in Rule 63(6) of the Utah Rules of Evidence.

As can be seen, the statements admissible under Rule 63(6) of the Utah Rules of Evidence need not be full admissions or confession to the offense charged, but may be partially exculpatory. The statement in question here is much more exculpatory than that given in State v. Burr, supra. This is because in Burr the defendant told police he was willing to make a deal, here the appellant admitted to his participation in a criminal offense. The statement here is identical in nature to the statement given in State in re K.D.S., supra. The statement in that case involved an admission by the defendant to being the driver of a car involved in an automobile accident, but he denied being intoxicated. Here the appellant admitted to being present in a place where he should not have been, but denied having the intent to commit the crime of theft while in the room.

With this in mind, the question of the meaning of the phrase "as against the accused" must be addressed. The trial court in this case ruled that the phrase meant that the defendant could not introduce the evidence of an admission or confession, but the state

could do so if it desired (T. 40-45). Such a ruling is inconsistent with policies underlying the exceptions to the hearsay rule. It is generally recognized that hearsay evidence is inadmissible because it lacks the factors which have traditionally been found to insure reliability found in other types of evidence. McCormick on Evidence 2nd Edition (1977) §245. Certain types of hearsay evidence are admissible because these declarations are made under circumstances or because their contents reflect strong indicia of reliability. Binder, The Hearsay Handbook, (1975) at p.35. Consequently, it is the indicia of reliability, not the nature of the party that can introduce the evidence, that is reflected in the phrase "as against the accused" in Rule 63(6) of the Utah Rules of Evidence. The phrase "as against the accused" must be interpreted to mean that the statement would subject the declarant to some form of criminal responsibility, "because experience teaches that it is unlikely that he would so declare unless it were true" State v. Sanders, 27 Utah 2d 354, 496 P.2d 270 (1972). Another reason for adopting this interpretation is that to give Rule 63(6) of the Utah Rules of Evidence the interpretation that the trial court thought appropriate — only the state could introduce the evidence — would require that Rule 63(7), of the Utah Rules of Evidence which begins "As against himself a statement by a person who is a party to the action...", could not be applied by a party opponent to introduce evidence against the opposing party. Such an interpretation of Rule 63(7) of the Utah Rules of

Evidence is not reflected in the case law interpreting that rule. State in re KDS, supra, State v. Burr, supra.

As previously described the statement in question here was at least as inculpatory as that in State in re KDS, supra. This meets the first criterion of admissibility, that the statement be "against the accused". As for the other requirements there is no question that the statement was relative to the offense charged and counsel stipulated that the declaration was given knowingly and voluntarily under circumstances not violative of the appellant's constitutional rights (T.49). Consequently, the hearsay statement was admissible as an admission or confession which is exception to the hearsay rule as described in Rule 63(6) of the Utah Rules of Evidence and the court committed error by excluding it.

#### POINT C

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED ERROR BY EXCLUDING  
THE APPELLANT'S HEARSAY STATEMENT AS IT CON-  
STITUTED AN ADMISSION BY A PARTY.

The statement by the appellant that he was in Mr. Ball's room but did not intend to commit a criminal offense was admissible as an admission by a party. This exception to the hearsay rule is described in Rule 63(7) of the Utah Rules of Evidence:

As against himself a statement by a person who is a party to the action in his individual or a representative capacity and, if the latter, who was acting in such representative capacity in making the statement.

The hearsay declarations which this exception covers are essentially

the same as those covered by Rule 63(6). In fact this court held that both Rules 63(6) and 63(7) of the Utah Rules of Evidence were applicable in State v. Burr, supra, and in State in re KDS, supra. Those cases were both described in Point B, supra, and need not be discussed further here. In Watters v. Query, 588 P.2d 702 (Utah, 1978), the court held that it was improper to preclude the plaintiff in a civil case from eliciting from a witness that one of the co-defendant's stated she was distressed because she felt like she was the cause of the accident which was eventually the subject of that civil law suit.

All of these statements express either an admission of liability in a civil case or are inculpatory in a criminal case. As has previously been discussed, the statements made by the appellant in this case admit some criminal responsibility; therefore, the statement is "as against himself" as required by the rule. Likewise, there is no question that the appellant is a party to the criminal action. The hearsay statement in this case qualifies as an exception to the general hearsay rule and the trial court erred in not admitting it into evidence.

#### POINT D

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED ERROR BY EXCLUDING  
THE APPELLANT'S HEARSAY STATEMENT AS IT CON-  
STITUTED A DECLARATION AGAINST INTEREST.

The appellant's hearsay statement qualifies as an exception to the hearsay rule because it was a declaration against interest. This exception is described in Rule 63(10) of the Utah Rules of

Evidence which provides in part:

(10) Declarations Against Interest. Subject to the limitations of exception (6), a statement which the judge finds was made by a declarant who is unavailable as a witness and which was at the time of the assertion so far contrary to the declarant's pecuniary or proprietary interest or so far subjected him to civil or criminal liability ... that under the circumstances existing would not have made the statement unless he believed it to be true.

This rule was applied in State v. Sanders, supra. In that case the defendant was charged with a robbery in which four individuals were involved, his defense was that persons other than himself had committed the robbery. One of the four persons that the defendant blamed for the robbery made a statement to an attorney that he and three others, who did not include the defendant committed the robbery. The declarant refused to testify and the evidence was offered as a declaration against interest. It was argued that the basis for the statement being against the declarant's interest was the disgrace he would incur upon becoming an informant. The trial court allowed the attorney to testify only about the declarant's admissions that he was involved in the robbery but not about the participation of others. This was upheld on appeal because the indicia of trustworthiness of the statement was found in the fact that it was made against the declarant's penal interest; however, the court found that it was not against the declarant's penal interest to name the other participants in the robbery.

There is no question in the case at bar that the statement

made by the appellant subjected him to criminal liability — at least to the offense of Criminal Trespass. This meets one of the criteria of Rule 63(10) of the Utah Rules of Evidence, that at the time the assertion was made it was contrary for the declarant's criminal liability. Another criterion is that under the circumstances the declaration would not have been made unless the declarant believed it to be true. The statement was made a matter of minutes after leaving the resort, under the emotional stress of the appellant's arrest. The appellant also admitted to being in Mr. Ball's room, thus corroborating his identification of the appellant. These circumstances provide sufficient indicia of reliability to establish the appellant's belief that the declaration was true for purposes of this exception to the hearsay rule.

The final criterion for admissibility is that the declarant was unavailable. The appellant in this case was unavailable for several reasons. First of all, the appellant, like any criminal defendant, was protected by the privilege against self-incrimination as provided by the Constitutions of the State of Utah and the United States. Rule 62(7)(a) of the Utah Rules of Evidence includes exception of a witness on the grounds of privilege as a situation constituting unavailability. Furthermore, the appellant refused to testify because he would have to answer to his prior felony convictions for burglary. The trial court ruled that he could not consider the admissibility of prior

felony convictions in light of Rule 45 of the Utah Rules of Evidence (T.50-51). That rule allows the trial court to weigh the probative value of evidence against the prejudicial effect of that evidence:

Except as in these rules otherwise provided, the judge may in his discretion exclude evidence if he finds that its probative value is substantially outweighed by the risk that its admission will (a) necessitate undue consumption of time, or (b) create substantial danger of undue prejudice or of confusing the issues or of misleading the jury, or (c) unfairly and harmfully surprise a party who has not had reasonable opportunity to anticipate that such evidence would be offered.

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