1981

The State of Utah v. Alfred William Johnson : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

The appellant contested the court's ruling and the issue was discussed out of the presence of the jury (T.40). The appellant directed the court to Rule 63(6) as the exception which justified admission of the appellant's hearsay statement (T.40).

Appellant is now raising for the first time on

appeal the applicability of the following additional exceptions: Rule 63(12)(a), statement of Physical or Mental Condition of the Declarant; Rule 63(7) Admission by Parties; Rule 63(10) Declaration Against Interest; and Rule 63(4)(b) Contemporaneous Statements. Normally this Court will not consider an issue for the first time on appeal. In Simpson v. General Motors Corporation, 24 Utah 2d 301, 470 P.2d 399 (1970), this Court said:

Orderly procedure, whose proper purpose is the final settlement of controversies, requires that a party must present his entire case and his theory or theories of recovery to the trial court; and having done so, he cannot thereafter change to some different theory and thus attempt to keep in motion a merry-go-round of litigation.

470 P.2d at 401. See also: State v. Treadway, 28 Utah 2d 160, 499 P.2d 846 (1972); State v. Starlight Club, 17 Utah 2d 174, 406 P.2d 912 (1965).

Allowing the appellant to raise new issues on appeal which were not raised in the court below is not appropriate in this case. Here the appellant contends that the trial court erred in not allowing the hearsay statement of the appellant to come into evidence because it falls under one of five exceptions to the hearsay rule. In light of the fact that appellant directed the court to that specific

exception which he felt allowed the hearsay statement to come into evidence the appellant should not, after failing below on one theory be allowed to change his theory on appeal, and thus "keep the merry-go-round of litigation in motion." Simpson, supra.

Hearsay statements are generally inadmissible unless they fall within one of the defined exceptions to the hearsay rule. By directing the court to Rule 63(6), the appellant was in fact attempting to define the limited scope of the use of the proffered statement in accordance with Rule 6 of the Utah Rules of Evidence which provides:

When relevant evidence is admissible as to one party or for one purpose and is inadmissible as to other parties or for another purpose, the judge upon request shall restrict the evidence to its proper scope and instruct the jury accordingly.

The appellant's attempt to define an admissible use of an otherwise inadmissible hearsay statement failed and the appellant should be precluded from raising new theories of admissibility on appeal.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN EXCLUDING APPELLANT'S HEARSAY STATEMENT.

The trial court was correct in excluding the appellant's hearsay statement because it did not fall within any of the exceptions to the hearsay rule. "Hearsay statements have been generally discredited because they (1) lack trustworthiness and (2) the person purporting to know the facts is not stating them under oath." State In Re K.D.S., 578 P.2d 9, 12 (Utah 1978). Exceptions to the hearsay rule are enumerated in Rule 63 of the Utah Rules of Evidence. In this case the appellant attempted to introduce his exculpatory statement without taking the stand to avoid cross-examination by the prosecution about his prior convictions for burglary. The judge was correct in excluding the hearsay statement because it lacked trustworthiness and was to be introduced to keep the appellant from being cross-examined under oath, thus this case falls within the scope of statements which should be excluded under the authority of State In Re K.D.S., supra.

A.

THE APPELLANT'S HEARSAY STATEMENT WAS NOT ADMISSIBLE UNDER RULE 63(12)(a) AS A STATEMENT OF THE MENTAL CONDITION OF THE DECLARANT.

As stated earlier, this issue is not properly before this Court on appeal since it was not raised in the trial court. However, if this Court decides to examine this issue, the record below indicates that the appellant's hearsay statement does not fall within the statement of mental condition exception to the hearsay rule which states:

Unless the judge finds it was made in bad faith, a statement of the declarant's (a) then existing state of mind, emotion or physical sensation, including statements of intent, plan, motive, design, mental feeling, pain and bodily health, but not including memory or belief to prove the fact remembered or believed, when such a mental or physical condition is an issue or is relevant to prove or explain acts or conduct of the declarant.

Rule 63(12)(a), Utah Rules of Evidence.

Since this issue was not raised below the trial court was not given an opportunity to make a specific finding on whether the statement was in bad faith. On appeal this Court should affirm the trial court if the record discloses that the proper legal ground existed even if it was not stated by the trial court. Edwards v. Iron County, 531 P.2d 476 (Utah 1975); Foss Lewis & Sons Const. Co. v. General Insurance Co. of America, 30 Utah 2d 290, 517 P.2d 539 (1973).

In examining the discussion that occurred out

of the presence of the jury, the record indicates that the judge implicitly ruled that the appellant's statement was in bad faith. The court characterized the attempt of the appellant by stating:

What you are trying to do and I can tell you right now is, you are trying to get his excuse before this jury without putting him on the stand to say it and I'm not going to let you do it.

(T.42).

The reasoning of the trial court is mirrored by the Washington Court of Appeals in dealing with a case similar to this one. In State v. Smith, 15 Wash.App. 103, 547 P.2d 299 (1976), the defendant appealed from a conviction of two charges of taking a motor vehicle without the permission of the owner. The defendant contested the exclusion of hearsay testimony as to defendant's intoxicated state at the time of making a confession. The appellate court sustained the exclusion as proper and not within the state of physical and mental condition exception to the hearsay rule because:

The statements were self serving and their admission would have avoided cross-examination at trial and circumvented the purpose of Cr.R. 3.5.

547 P.2d at 302.

Here as there, the "self-serving characterization" is sufficient to establish that the statement does not come within the state of mind exception to the hearsay rule.

The only significant obstacle to the admission of state of mind declarations is that of willful misrepresentations which can be overcome if the court finds that the declaration was given under circumstances showing no apparent motive for the speaker to falsify. 1977 Utah Law Review 85, 88. The judge's ruling indicates doubt of the lack of motive to falsify. The appellant's "admission" consisted of confirming the fact that he had been at Snowbird, a fact which could not be denied because appellant knew that an eyewitness could identify him, and an exculpatory statement which was given to the arresting police officer and thus lacked the verity that accompanies statements to independent third parties.

The cases cited by the appellant are not determinative in this case. In State v. Simmons, 573 P.2d 341 (Utah 1977), the statement which the defendant had attempted to introduce was not similar in character to the one in this case because there the defendant made the statement to an independent third person. Here the defendant had just fled from the scene of the burglary and knew that an

eye-witness could identify him. Even if the statement was admissible under Rule 63(12)(a), failure to admit the statement would not be prejudicial error according to Simmons, supra.

State v. Wauneka, 560 P.2d 1377 (Utah 1977) is totally inapplicable because there the statements which the prosecution attempted to introduce were statements of the victim in a homicide case which were not relevant because the victim's state of mind is not in question in a homicide case.

The record is sufficient to establish that the statement was hearsay which was not made in good faith and thus the trial court did not commit error in excluding it since it did not come within Rule 63(12)(a) as an exception to the hearsay rule.

B

THE APPELLANT'S HEARSAY STATEMENT WAS NOT
ADMISSIBLE UNDER RULE 63(6) AS A CONFESSION
OR ADMISSION.

The record indicates that the judge made a ruling which specifically determined that the hearsay statement which the appellant wished to introduce was not a confession or admission. The appellant contends that the statement established that the appellant was at Snowbird, but that he

did not possess the intent to commit burglary. Such in and of itself does not, as appellant claims, establish that appellant could be convicted of criminal trespass. The appellant's statement not only denies intent to commit theft, but also fails to suggest that appellant possessed the intent to commit criminal trespass (See Point III, infra). Since the statement would not be a basis upon which the appellant could be convicted of criminal trespass it is not an admission as claimed by the appellant.

Rule 63(6) provides:

In a criminal proceeding as against the accused, a previous statement by him relative to the offense charged if, and only if, the judge finds that the statement was made knowingly and voluntarily by the accused and the circumstances under which the statement was made were not violative of the constitutional rights of the accused.

The appellant conceded that the statement is not a confession (T.41) thus on appeal this Court need only decide whether the trial court was correct in refusing to sustain appellant's claim that his statement was less than a full confession and thus equal to an admission.

The trial court characterized the statement as "not a proper admission or confession but an excuse for why he was there" (T.41).

What you are trying to elicit is a statement, I'm sure, that says: "I admit I was there but I wasn't there with the intent of committing any crime."

Now, that's not an admission and that's not against his interest. That's a self-serving statement and it loses the character of truthfulness that the admission -- that the exception contemplates and has been permitted for all these hundreds of years.

The reason for this exception is because the law says a man is not going to say something against his own interest unless it's true.

(T.44).

The court found that the appellant's construction of Rule 63(6) would "contemplate allowing anything that the accused says to come in regardless of whether it's an admission or not . . ." (T.45) and ruled that that was not the proper construction of Rule 63(6) and thus the appellant's statement was not admissible because it was not an admission against the appellant's interest but was simply a self-serving exculpatory statement.

C

THE APPELLANT'S HEARSAY STATEMENT WAS
NOT ADMISSIBLE UNDER RULE 63(7) AS AN
ADMISSION BY A PARTY.

Respondent submits that this issue is not properly before this Court on appeal since it was not raised in the trial court. However, if this Court decides to examine this issue the record demonstrates that the appellant's hearsay statement does not fall within Rule 63(7) which provides:

As against himself a statement by a person who is a party to the action in his individual or a representative capacity and, if the latter, who was acting in such representative capacity in making the statement;

J. Maughan, concurring in State In Re K.D.S., supra at 13 noted that this exception only applies in civil cases. This matter is not a civil case and this exception is inapplicable.

Even if this exception applied in criminal cases it is clearly not applicable to this case because it states that "as against himself" a statement is admissible. The appellant's statement is not against himself, it is simply an exculpatory statement which does not create any basis upon which the appellant could be admitting to the lesser crime of criminal trespass.

The cases cited by appellant, State In Re K.D.S., supra; and Watters v. Query, 588 P.2d 702 (Utah 1978) support the interpretation of Rule 63(7) as applying only to civil cases, thus the trial court did not err in excluding the hearsay statement.

D

THE APPELLANT'S HEARSAY STATEMENT WAS NOT ADMISSIBLE UNDER RULE 63(10) AS A DECLARATION AGAINST INTEREST.

Again, this issue is not properly before this Court on appeal since it was not raised in the trial court. However if this Court decides to examine this issue the record clearly indicates that the appellant's hearsay statement does not fall within the declaration against interest exception to the hearsay rule, Rule 63(10) which provides:

Subject to the limitations of exception (6), a statement which the judge finds was made by a declarant who is unavailable as a witness and which was at the time of the assertion so far contrary to the declarant's pecuniary or proprietary interest or so far subjected him to civil or criminal liability or so far rendered invalid a claim by him against another or created such risk of making him an object of hatred, ridicule or social disapproval that the declarant under the circumstances existing would not have made the statement unless he believed it to be true;

In order to establish that the appellant's hearsay statement was admissible as a declaration against interest the appellant must show that (1) the declarant was unavailable, (2) the statement was against his pecuniary or proprietary interest or so far subjected him to civil or criminal liability, and (3) the declarant would not have made the statement

unless it were true. The appellant cannot show that any of these requirements are present in this case.

In the present case the appellant claims that by exercising his privilege against self incrimination he was unavailable as a witness. In State v. Smith, supra, the defendant made a similar claim. The trial court rejected that claim and the appellate court affirmed stating:

Here the defendant chose not to testify at trial. This does not constitute a sufficient showing of unavailability to allow introduction of a defendant's former testimony. Unavailability, for purposes of the hearsay exception, must be "without the connivance of the party seeking to introduce the testimony" of the absent witness. State v. Ortego, supra, 22 Wash.2d at 564, 157 P.2d at 326. A defendant responsible for his own absence or unavailability cannot be considered unavailable for purposes of introducing his prior testimony. State v. Small, 20 N.C.App. 423, 201 S.E. 2d 584 (1974).

547 P.2d 299, 301.

Although Rule 62(7)(a) of the Utah Rules of Evidence includes exception of a witness on the grounds of privilege as a situation constituting unavailability this Court should follow State v. Smith, and not allow a defendant to manipulate the hearsay exceptions and connive unavailability in order

to avoid cross-examination about prior convictions.

Even if the appellant is allowed to claim unavailability based on his privilege against self incrimination he failed to establish that his statement was against pecuniary or proprietary interest or such as to subject him to civil or criminal liability. Appellant contends that the statement would subject him to criminal liability, in that it was an admission of criminal trespass. As noted below (See point III, infra) there was never any foundation whereby the appellant could be convicted of criminal trespass thus the statement was not one which would subject him to criminal liability. In fact, the statement, as characterized by the court below (T.41) was merely an "excuse" for his presence, which could not be denied because there was an eye witness.

Finally, even if appellant had established that the statement was such as to subject him to criminal liability the circumstances under which the statement was made are not conducive to showing that the appellant would not have made the statement unless it were true. The appellant had been caught "red handed" in the victim's room and he knew that he could be identified. This knowledge may have prompted the appellant to state to the

arresting officer that he was at Snowbird, since denial would be useless. Apparently the appellant also stated that he did not intend to take anything from the apartment in which he was found. Such a statement lacks the credibility present in statements to third parties, or those which tend to implicate an individual in a crime. The circumstances of the appellant's statement distinguish it from those which were intended by this exception to the hearsay rule.

The appellant failed to demonstrate any basis upon which Rule 63(10) could apply to his statement and the trial court did not err in excluding the hearsay statement.

E

THE APPELLANT'S HEARSAY STATEMENT WAS
NOT ADMISSIBLE UNDER RULE 63(4) (b) AS
A CONTEMPORANEOUS STATEMENT.

This issue is not properly before this Court on appeal since it was not raised in the trial court. However, even if this Court decides to examine this issue it is clear that the appellant's proffered statement does not fall within Rule 63(4) (b) contemporaneous statement exception to the hearsay rule which states:

A statement (a) which the judge finds was made while the declarant was perceiving the event or condition which the statement narrates, describes or explains, or

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